# A CONCEPTUAL ANALYSIS OF "SHIPPING PACKAGING" AND "SECONDARY PACKAGING": OPERATIONALIZING BRAND LOYALTY THEORY TO MEASURE BRAND EFFECTS

by

Lauren Lukehart

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for Departmental Honors in the Department of Marketing

Texas Christian University

Fort Worth, Texas

May 2, 2022

# A CONCEPTUAL ANALYSIS OF "SHIPPING PACKAGING" AND "SECONDARY PACKAGING": OPERATIONALIZING BRAND LOYALTY THEORY TO MEASURE BRAND EFFECTS

# Project Approved:

 $Supervising\ Professor:\ Brandon\ Chicotsky,\ Ph.D.$ 

Department of Marketing

William C. Moncrief, Ph.D.

Department of Marketing

### **ABSTRACT**

With the rise of Ecommerce, more brands have an opportunity to create an "unboxing" experience for their consumers. Through "shipping" and "secondary packaging," brands have an opportunity to extend the brand's personality to a new medium and in doing so enhance the customer experience. The unboxing experience, through secondary research, has been substantiated to elicit consumer emotions such as "positive affect" and "willingness to share." Both outcomes, as well as other brand effects, have been linked to brand loyalty. "Brand loyalty theory" offers established terms and concepts that help define the industry practice, environment, and stakeholders of branded packaging. To extend brand loyalty theory literature, the current analysis offers such a conceptual analysis and proposed study design for future scholars. This study aims to help operationalize future analyses on brand effects of shipping and secondary packaging.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRO	ODUCTION	5
LITEF	RATURE REVIEW	6
	Prospective Marketplace Implications Substantiated by Consumer and Industry Trends	.7
	Marketplace Relevance of Branded Packaging	8
	Brand Loyalty Theory to Operationalize Analyses of Branded Packaging	.8
	Brand Loyalty Theory Evolution & Relation to Packaging	.9
	Brand Loyalty & Branded Packaging: Increasing Presence in the Marketplace1	2
	Customer Loyalty and its Relationship to Brand Loyalty1	3
	Brand, as an Operative Term	4
	Defining CPG Delivery	5
	Defining Ecommerce	6
	Defining Subscription-Based Online Service	8
	Defining Premium Loyalty Programs	9
	Defining Unboxing	0
	Sustainability Trend and Branded Packaging	2
	Emerging Packaging Practices from Legacy Marketing	3
	Marketplace Contexts for Secondary Packaging & Shipping/Tertiary Packaging2	4
	Proposed Study Design with Hypotheses and Research Questions	27
DISC	USSION & IMPLICATIONS	31
	Theoretical Implications	1
	Practical Implications.	32
CONC	CLUSION	34

### Introduction

There is a marketing phenomenon concerning branded packaging with increasing relevance to the online delivery of consumer product goods (CPG). In the Ecommerce marketplace—which involves online purchasing and delivery to the desired location (Turban et al., 2018)—there is increased activity represented by "secondary packaging" and "shipping packaging." These related and established concepts in marketing literature describe packaging as having several key objectives including but not limited to (1) identifying the brand; (2) conveying descriptive and persuasive information; (3) facilitating product transportation and protection; (4) assisting in at-home storage; and (5) aiding in product consumption (Keller, 2008). Both terms, secondary packaging and shipping packaging, are proposed in the current study as observable by employing "brand loyalty theory" (BLT), while also making the case that such terms are operationalizable for future analyses measuring effects on consumer brand loyalty.

As a contribution to marketing literature and BLT, a study design is proposed with a focus on beauty products due to the CPG's prevalence regarding secondary and shipping packaging. From 2019 to 2020, online sales of CPGs in the U.S. substantially increased to a \$63 billion market (NielsenIQ, 2021). This marketplace increase is correlated with the total market share of "non-store" or delivery purchases transacted online, overtaking brick-and-mortar general merchandise purchasing since 2019 (i.e., more purchases using desktop and mobile devices, rather than in-store purchasing) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2022).

The burgeoning marketplace of consumer delivery goods and an associated media ecosystem around branded packaging (e.g., the "unboxing" experience, which is explained further in the literature review) indicates growth in secondary packaging and shipping packaging.

The current conceptual analysis addresses a need to further define the terms in the literature to enable researchers to observe and measure this marketing activity and various factors. This is supported by proposing BLT as a pathway to operationalize such investigations in the future. The aforementioned concepts are oriented to seminal studies and determined relevant and useful for future analyses by providing recent substantiations in literature; whereby, both secondary packaging and shipping packaging become immediately operationalizable.

The current study aims to extend marketing literature by (1) substantiating branded packaging as a burgeoning marketplace phenomenon; (2) contextualizing established terms and concepts to operationalize future analyses related to brand loyalty effects; and (3) proposing a study design for future scholars. This is accomplished by orienting a proposed analysis in BLT and referring to formative BLT studies as logical and operationalizable pathways for future hypotheses and research questions. Future methodological recommendations are also posited to help address the gap in the literature related to BLT and branded packaging. This research intends to contribute to BLT through a framework in which future analyses may advance theoretically and methodologically.

### **Literature Review**

Suggested hypotheses for future analyses are posited in this section to support future researchers' study design by providing conceptual tools provided detailed herein. The current conceptual analysis determines future studies are viable utilizing the defined terms and provides a roadmap for future investigations. To help advance the literature, the current analysis also provides a survey measure adapted from previous formal analyses.

### Prospective Marketplace Implications Substantiated by Consumer and Industry Trends

According to Forbes in 2018, consumers formulate a first impression of a company within the first seven seconds of interaction, which is why packaging can have a marketing impact (Gibbons, 2018). Within the first seconds of delivery, the packaging is what a consumer sees and touches, which can significantly shape the consumer's first impression of the physical product, and potentially decrease product returns (Moreau, 2020). Brand loyalty is on the decline, as 73% to 80% of U.S. consumers plan to stick with brand loyalty-eroding behaviors post-pandemic (i.e., an overall increase in consumers trying new shopping brands and therefore decrease in the percent of purchases that are made due to loyalty towards a particular brand) (Charm et al., 2020).

As substantiated by industry analysis, customers are raising their standards for loyalty each year. More than two-thirds (68%) of customers agree their loyalty is more difficult to maintain than ever before, up from 64% in 2020 (Clarus Commerce, 2021b). Thus, companies are pressed to find a solution to keep customer retention high or engage with new consumers in unique ways. Branded packaging design is one such solution. However, many companies are still unaware of the marketing implications regarding brand loyalty of these (often simple) branding strategies related to packaging.

In the Forbes (2021) article, "Turn your shipping box into a competitive advantage," emerging companies such as Cardinal Boxes were highlighted for building an entire business focused on helping other companies create branded packaging that helps realize marketing return on investment (Hughes, 2021). As popular press offers recent and numerous coverages of the branded packaging phenomenon, there is a need to extend the literature by further defining secondary packaging and shipping packaging with examples of current marketplace use cases

that can be formally measured as it relates to brand loyalty. The current analysis offers one such example with a proposed study design to enable further researchers to proceed with investigations.

# **Marketplace Relevance of Branded Packaging**

Ecommerce is an abbreviation for electronic commerce and is defined as a business model in which transactions take place over electronic networks, mostly the internet. It includes the process of electronically buying and selling goods, services, and information (Turban et al., 2018). Ecommerce has become particularly relevant in the delivery of CPGs. In 2020, CPG parcel volume exceeded 131 billion in the world's 13 major markets (Pitney Bowes, 2020).

Analysts widely agree the CPG delivery marketplace continues to expand, as evidenced by e-marketplace and online-to-offline (O2O) giants generating 65% of the top 150 global retailers' growth, represented by 17% in 2014–2019, versus grocers' 0.8% growth during that same period (Kopka & Little, 2020). The Ecommerce, online delivery space adds relevance to branded packaging as a marketing practice, industry phenomenon, and future area of study for scholars.

### **Brand Loyalty Theory to Operationalize Analyses of Branded Packaging**

BLT offers established terms and concepts that help define the industry practice, environment, and stakeholders of branded packaging, creating a functional lens to analyze the effects of branded packaging. As seminally defined, BLT is a positively biased tendency that contains three distinct dimensions: emotive, evaluative, and behavioral. The emotive dimension refers to the affective (like-dislike), fear, respect, or compliance tendency which is systematically

manifested more in favor of a brand than other brands in the marketplace. The evaluative tendency refers to the positively biased evaluation of the brand on a set of criteria that are relevant to defining the brand's utility to the consumer. Finally, the behavioral tendency refers to the positively biased responses toward the brand concerning its procurement, purchase, and consumption activities (Sheth & Park, 1974).

All three of these dimensions are impacted by the branded package design or lack thereof. The emotive dimension can be generated through the emotional response that brand imagery within packaging design evokes. The evaluative tendency is relevant to packaging design now more than ever as 24% of consumers reuse box packaging and 83% of consumers under 44 years of age are willing to pay more for products that come in reusable or recyclable packaging (Dotcom Distribution, 2021; Manning, 2021). Lastly, the behavioral tendency is drastically impacted by packaging design, from affecting the way consumers see the product on the shelf to how they physically hold or interact with the product upon purchase.

### **Brand Loyalty Theory Evolution & Relation to Packaging**

A few years after its founding, BLT evolved from a primary focus on stakeholderorganizational relationships (Jacoby et al., 1978), to also examining the distinction between
brand loyalty and repeat purchases among consumer communities (Halim, Swasto, Hamid, &
Firdaus, 2014; Kalampokis et al., 2016). In this study, it was explained that some consumers
purchased out of convenience, which at the time meant whatever was stocked on the shelf. In the
21st century, the internet has transformed what convenience means for many American
consumers, as consumers now have a seemingly endless amount of options at their fingertips.
BLT has also become increasingly relevant in the emerging online delivery era, with brand

loyalty on a decline and convenience on the rise as one of the primary factors' consumers use to make purchase decisions (Stagnaro, 2019). This is evident in the consumer packaged goods (CPG) industry specifically, with over 80% of customers reported being "likely" or "very likely" to try a new grocery brand, and 90 of the top 100 CPG brands experiencing share declines due to consumer loyalty erosion (Catalina, 2015; Criteo, 2019).

Brand loyalty is defined by Aaker and Joachimsthaler (2009) as one of the four dimensions of brand equity, alongside brand awareness, brand associations, and perceived quality. Where brand loyalty is described specifically as "the heart of any brand's value." Within this discussion, Aaker and Joachimsthaler (2009) state that brand loyalty can be measured by price premiums and customer satisfaction. In addition, Aaker and Joachimsthaler (2009) claim that the central goal regarding brand loyalty is to strengthen the size and intensity of each loyalty segment. Further studies in 2013 found that premium packaging is one way to accomplish this. Premium packaging—which consists of unique, gift-like branded boxes or bags—benefits retailers in areas including customer loyalty, marketing, and advertising (GlobalNewsWire, 2013). Thus, extending BLT to define branded packaging and measure brand loyalty effects can be generative for future scholars while offering industry relevance.

Aaker implores the significance of brand loyalty in his book, <u>Building Strong Brands</u>, where he states, "a brand without a loyal customer base usually is vulnerable or has value only in its potential to create loyal customers" (Aaker, 2012). Aaker further explains that different means to enhance brand loyalty can include enhancing brand awareness, perceived quality, or creating an effective and clear brand identity. Aaker illustrates this point later in the book through a case study of Asahi Dry, a company that overhauled its brand identity, and as a result, experienced a gain in market share and an increase in brand loyalty. Such case studies further validate brand

loyalty effects as relevant measures to branded packaging when leveraging BLT to operationalize analyses.

Since Aaker's seminal work, the connection between packaging and brand loyalty has been seen consistently throughout history. Grundey in 2010, found that one criterion of brand identity is the identification of the brand judging from its packaging without seeing its brand name. Grundey even gave an account of experiments that proved Coca-Cola bottles could be easily recognized on the shelf without seeing the logo. Even if the color was changed to green instead of red, it was still identifiable (Grundey, 2010). Studies such as these demonstrate that packaging can create a recognizable brand identity which in turn can create brand loyalty. This is further explored in other works, such as Harris and Ambrose's *Packaging the Brand*, and the article, "Building a unique brand identity," where it is shown that the use of innovative packaging is a point of difference to distinguish a company's given brand identity (Ambrose & Harris 2017; Ward, Yang, Romaniuk, & Beal, 2020). Thus, from these studies, it is logical to conclude that BLT can be utilized to operationalize studies regarding the branding effects of packaging design moving forward.

BLT applications are increasingly prevalent in the online marketplace. Rather than the consumer having one central connecting point with a brand in-store, there are two critical points of contact with online purchases: (1) the moment when the consumers decide what and how much to purchase in the virtual space; and (2) once the products are delivered to their home, the consumers decide whether or not to keep them (Wood, 2001).

# Brand Loyalty & Branded Packaging: Increasing Presence in the Marketplace

While the literature is limited in studies that utilize BLT to operationalize packaging studies, brand loyalty discussions are more commonly explored in the popular press (Davis, 2021; Morris, 2020; Mckinsey, 2021). Within these multiple publications and marketing studies, it is clear that brand loyalty is wavering, due to the new patterns established by the COVID-19 pandemic, especially among the younger consumer demographic. With brand loyalty diminishing, companies may struggle to stand out or make themselves have a distinguished placeholder in consumers' minds. Packaging is one channel to do this.

Moreau (2020) from the University of Wisconsin-Madison describes the opportunity for inducing brand effects via packaging: Imagine coming home after a long day and discovering a package by your front door. The package's exterior is bright blue in color and has a message written on it (in a cool, casual font) stating, "Your day just got a whole lot better!" The box is made of high-quality cardboard, and the tape holding it together is decorated with the brand's logo—in its signature bright blue color. The tape comes off with ease to reveal a product wrapped in attractive, scented tissue paper and sealed with a bold sticker proclaiming the brand's values. While the discovery of any package may have brightened your day, the discovery of this particular box may have taken the positive effect to a higher level. In doing so, it may also set higher expectations for the quality of the product inside (Moreau, 2020). This linkage between packaging and higher expectations may also result in consumers judging the product to be of higher quality (Hoch & Ha, 1986). It is evident that companies are taking note of this relationship as an increasing number of corporations are engaging in this specialized and sustainable packaging phenomenon (Glossier, 2020; Oatly 2022; UrbanStems, 2022).

# **Customer Loyalty and its Relationship to Brand Loyalty**

"Customer loyalty" or "loyalty" is defined as a deeply held commitment to rebuy or repatronize a preferred product or service consistently in the future; thereby, causing repetitive same-brand or same brand-set purchasing, despite situational influences and marketing efforts having the potential to cause switching behavior (Oliver, 1999). Loyalty is the byproduct of a customer's positive experience with the brand and works to create trust (Oracle, 2021). Similarly, within the literature, customer loyalty is defined as the relationship between relative attitude and repeat patronage (Dick & Basu, 1994). According to Forbes (2020), customer loyalty has evolved to encompass all engagement a customer has with a brand whether it be via social media, in-store, or online visits. These engagements go beyond driving the customer simply from one purchase to the next (Talbot, 2020).

As reported by Forbes (2020), today's consumers demand more from brands. They do not want to be judged solely by what they buy or how much they spend. Consumers want personalized experiences, and they will grow loyalty to companies who create these experiences (Talbot, 2020). Customer loyalty is a critical asset of marketing, as it leads to higher margins, repeat business, profitable referrals, and great reviews (DeWitt, Nguyen, & Marshall, 2008; Jones & Sasser, 1995). Customer loyalty is also proven to be built when providers are able to build close and interactive relationships with their customers, which can be accomplished through customized packaging (Kim, Lee, & Hiemstra, 2004). Based on this prevalence and logical connection to brand loyalty, the current analysis factors these observations as a reference point to inform a discussion of BLT.

# Brand, as an Operative Term

The American Marketing Association (AMA) defines a brand as "a name, term, sign, symbol, or design, or a combination of them, intended to identify the goods and services of one seller or group of sellers and to differentiate them from those of competitors" (AMA, 2021). This multi-faceted definition from the AMA has also been criticized for being too product-oriented, emphasizing visuals and other tangible elements (Arnold, 1992; Crainer, 1995). Despite these criticisms, the definition has endured to contemporary literature, albeit in a modified form (Aaker 1991; Wood 2000). According to Kotler (2002), a brand encapsulates the intangible in addition to the tangible, a brand is any "offering from a known source." Kotler articulates that brands include many concepts such as a brand image and a brand name (Kotler, 2002). A brand image is defined as the sum of a customer's perceptions about a brand generated by the interaction of the cognitive, affective, and evaluative processes in a customer's mind (Lee et al., 2014), which may apply to packaging. This conceptual application to packaging is an element that contributes to product performance and is a critical component to strengthening brand association, which in turn, works to solidify a distinctive identity [as affirmed in literature (Keller, 1993, 2008)].

Kotler's research demonstrates that a brand can convey up to six levels of meaning including: (1) attributes, (2) benefits, (3) values, (4) culture, (5) personality, and (6) user. The first level, "attributes," is in reference to brands' abilities to evoke certain attributes in the consumers' minds. The second level is "benefits," in which the above attributes are translated into both functional and emotional benefits. The third level called "values" is the resulting connotation in the consumers' minds that the company holds certain values in high regard and prioritizes them. The fourth level is the "culture" that is represented by prioritizing these values.

The fifth level is the "personality" that is generated for the brand as a result of the culmination of the above levels. Lastly, the sixth level, "user," is a reflection of what type of user would use or buy this product or brand (Kotler, 2002). Corporate identity, design, and packaging have long been unmistakable contributions to brands' personality (Bajaj & Bond, 2018; Batra, Lehmann, & Singh, 1993). As a result, we can tie these definitions of the meanings that a brand can convey to packaging. Packaging as a visual brand element serves as an external representation of a brand (Phillips, McQuarrie, & Griffin, 2014).

### **Defining CPG Delivery**

CPG is defined as consumer packaged goods, which in the context of traditional marketing has focused on reaching out to consumers through mass marketing and delivering standardized products or services (Sunder, Kumar, & Zhao, 2016). This market has been consistently large since 2005 (Bureau of Economic Analysis, 2007). In 2021, U.S. spending on CPGs exceeded \$2 trillion and has only increased since the pandemic maintaining year-over-year growth of 8.7% (Consumer Brand Association, 2021). Consumers are increasingly using the internet to purchase products that were originally sourced through traditional retail outlets, product delivery issues have become more salient to consumers. Therefore, a logical assessment from the following marketing studies can be drawn that logistics decision-makers should focus on transportation and delivery issues as key components of online consumer satisfaction (Esper, Turnipseed, & Burton, 2003; Moreau, 2020).

Delivery refers to how well the product or service is delivered to the customer, covering speed, accuracy, and customer care (Kotler, 2002). The last or final mile of delivery is the critical link between consumer-based internet ordering and the delivery of the product to the consumer

(Esper, Turnipseed, & Burton, 2003). The last mile, including product transportation, is frequently considered the most important element of the order fulfillment process (Bromage, 2001). Thus, to offer a synthesis of the terms, "delivery" and "last mile," CPG Delivery is employed by the current analysis to refer to the shipping of goods purchased online and the delivery of that good to the desired location of the consumer. The current analysis identifies this term as relevant and well-utilized in the popular press, as referred to by *Buffalo Market*, a leading food and beverage distributor in the CPG space (BuffaloMarket, 2022). Other reputable marketplace firms have also deployed variations of this term including Peer-to-Peer Delivery and CPG E-Marketplace by Boston Consulting Group and Mckinsey & Ca. respectively (Hu et al., 2021; Kopka & Little, 2020).

# **Defining Ecommerce**

Ecommerce is an abbreviation for electronic commerce and is defined as a business model in which transactions take place over electronic networks, mostly the internet. The term encompasses the process of electronically buying and selling goods, services, and information (Turban et al., 2018). Ecommerce direct-to-consumer (D2C) are models on the rise that allow brands to directly engage with their customers using social, mobile, and digital channels. The goal is to more directly enhance the customer journey, adapt to changes in customer behavior, and differentiate the brand experience. This leads to the displacement of traditional paid media and results in research and development tools delivering better innovations and customized offerings (Gielens & Steenkamp, 2019).

In 2016, the number of manufacturers selling directly to consumers exceeded 40% of all U.S. manufacturers, and over a third of U.S. consumers report buying directly from a brand

manufacturer's website, with D2C innovation coming from a wide range of industries (Diorio, 2016). Therefore, with the advent of online marketplaces, D2C access to the mass market is becoming a realistic option for brand manufacturers to directly reach their consumers in a personalized way (Abhishek, Jerath, & Zhang, 2016). Packaging is a primary means of achieving this personalization.

An article from Forbes in 2019 centers around the idea of shipping packaging being a key factor in ensuring Ecommerce success. Within the article, Laberge expresses that consumers are starting to expect a more personalized experience around their purchases, and thus the strategy that a company has regarding its shipping is extremely critical in creating an experience for users that will build ambassadors for the brand (Laberge, 2019). Furthermore, a study by McKinsey & Co. on subscription boxes found that users bear more importance to the personalization of the box than the subscription and purchase process (Chen et al., 2018).

Similarly, the World Trade Organization defines "electronic commerce" as the production, distribution, marketing, sale, or delivery of goods and services by electronic means. (World Trade Organization, 2018). The growing trade in cross-border electronic commerce (Ecommerce) in physical goods has generated enormous opportunities for the global economy, providing new growth engines, developing new trade modes, driving new consumption trends, and creating new jobs (World Customs Organization, 2018). Thus, Ecommerce is generating more opportunities within the U.S. and in the global economy. This is increasingly evident as technologies continue to expand and become more interactive. This interactive environment that creates a user experience in business-to-consumer (B2C) online commerce is called experiential Ecommerce (Mahfouz, 2004). With the focus on the experience of the consumer on the rise,

Ecommerce has the potential to become increasingly relevant to nearly all factors of business dealings regarding customer and delivery systems in the years ahead (Hyken, 2018).

### **Defining Subscription-Based Online Service**

A subscription-based online service (SOS) refers to an e-business (i.e., Eommerce) that provides periodic delivery of a customized box of merchandise directly to the consumer's home for a weekly, monthly, or annual fee (Ramkumar & Hongjoo Woo, 2018). SOS businesses in the U.S. successfully sell a variety of products including entertainment; art; prepared and raw ingredients food; and pet supplies (Burlingham 2014; Roussin 2016). This demand across industries has been achieved through what Ramkumar and Woo (2018) coined the "box-model," which they define as a retail business strategy where consumers can subscribe to an SOS of their choice for a weekly, monthly, or annual fee and receive a box of customized and curated merchandise of their liking at their doorstep (Ramkumar & Hongjoo Woo, 2018).

This "box-model" has fueled the subscription economy. The "subscription economy" is a term coined by Tien Tzuo, CEO of Zuora, a subscription management company. According to Zuora, the subscription economy has grown nearly 6x (more than 435%) over the last 9 years, and subscription businesses in the subscription economy IndexTM report have consistently grown five to eight times faster than traditional businesses (Zuora, 2021).

Researchers Erica Spurgeon and Linda Niehm from Iowa State University conducted a series of interviews with the following findings regarding SOS, particularly with regard to the fashion industry. Consumers liked the convenience of SOS package delivery and ease of website navigation. However, they wanted retailers to invest more in personal interaction (Spurgeon & Linda, 2019). This demand for increased personal interaction is what retailers have been able to

replicate in recent years through enhanced packaging design. For example, Curology, the customized skincare brand now includes humorous-toned notes that are customized with each customer's name and formula to give the brand a personal feel (Curology, 2021).

### **Defining Premium Loyalty Programs**

Premium Loyalty programs are the intersection between traditional loyalty programs and subscription programs. Premium loyalty programs offer discounts and rewards every time a consumer engages with a brand (Clarus Commerce, 2020). Premium loyalty programs, also known as "paid loyalty programs," offer enhanced, immediate benefits like instant discounts, free shipping, and VIP experiences that can be used at any time in exchange for a membership fee (Clarus Commerce, 2021a).

Consumers are increasingly willing to pay for the benefits they want from retailers. As a result, more than three-quarters (76%) would pay for a premium loyalty program, compared to 66% in 2020 and 58% in 2019 (Clarus Commerce, 2021b). Consumers are subscribing to one premium loyalty program and three-quarters (75%) of current members are likely to join additional premium loyalty programs in the next 12 months, compared to 69% in 2020. And more than a third (37%) are reported to have a high propensity to join an additional program (Clarus Commerce, 2021b).

In addition to companies gaining increased purchase volume through instituting these loyalty programs, 90% of consumers say they are likely to choose a retailer where they are a premium loyalty member over one offering a lower price. And 88% of premium loyalty members say they are likely to recommend a retailer with valuable premium loyalty benefits to a family member or friend (Clarus Commerce, 2021b). Through these statistics, the current

analysis deduces there is a synergy between premium loyalty programs, brand loyalty, and willingness to share (WTS) among customers. The reality that the development of customer-company identification can transform program loyalty into company loyalty and reduce the company's latent financial risk reinforces these findings (Kang, Alejandro, & Groza, 2015).

A McKinsey & Co. survey (2020) on loyalty programs reported members of premium or paid loyalty programs are 60% more likely to increase their spending on the brand after subscribing, while free loyalty programs only increase that likelihood by 30%. In addition, paid loyalty programs drive higher purchase frequency, basket size, and brand affinity compared with free loyalty programs. As a result, paying members can be worth several times more than nonpaying members, regardless of revenue from membership fees (Boudet et al., 2020).

# **Defining Unboxing**

Along with loyalty programs factoring into long-term brand loyalty, packaging also has an impact on purchase decisions. In a study by the Paper and Packaging Board (2018), 72% of consumers agree that packaging design can influence their purchasing decision. With more online access points for CPG purchases such as video click-throughs and description purchase links on "consumer influencer channels" (i.e., user-generated video channels that discuss or feature CPGs with recommendations, demonstrations, or others, which have active followership), consumer behavior can be influenced by watching videos of others receiving, unboxing, or showcasing CPGs. In 2018, "More than 55% of shoppers surveyed reported using online video while actually shopping in a store" (Google, 2018). Studies indicate these videos and other media that include visibly branded packaging can have an active role in the purchase decision process. This phenomenon is known as unboxing.

To explain the unboxing phenomenon, a case study of "toy unboxing" will be utilized. "toy unboxing" is the phenomenon of rapidly scaling and commercializing videos featuring the opening, assembling, and demonstration of children's toys, often by children, across social media platforms (Craig & Cunningham 2017). A more general explanation of unboxing across verticals is the opening of a product's packaging for viewing purposes. These videos, despite not containing reviews or descriptions of the functional benefit of the product or other practical information, are increasingly popular across a wide variety of different verticals (Kim, Self & Bae, 2018). According to a 2014 Google Consumer Survey of 1,500 people, 1 in 5 consumers surveyed watched unboxing videos as part of their purchasing journey (Hughes, 2021). As recently as 2018, more than half of 24,017 shoppers surveyed said an online video had helped them decide which specific brand or product to buy (Google, 2018). This growing trend continues at the time of the current analysis, seen by a 90% increase in purchase rate among the 135 million unduplicated monthly U.S. audience members when integrating Streaming TV ads into media strategy (Amazon, 2020).

According to Forbes (2021), the way in which retailers leverage the power of this new phenomenon ensures that the influencer interacting with your product presents it to their audience in a favorable way. If retailers can ensure influencers are excited by what they see, are surprised, feel like they have a quality experience, and are overall impressed by the packaging, it will drive success for their brand (Hughes, 2021). While this may appear to be an entirely new phenomenon, its origins have been leveraged by popular brands for many years. For example, Apple Inc. holds a number of patents related to package design and has a special packaging design studio occupied by hundreds of prototypes tested to determine how best to evoke a required emotional response (Heisler, 2012).

### **Sustainability Trend and Branded Packaging**

The trend of packaging affecting consumers is primarily driven by a wave of support for sustainability. According to Dotcom Distribution's (2021) annual study, 42% of respondents credited sustainable packaging as the packaging feature most likely to make them want to shop with a brand again, followed by free samples (34%). The gender breakdown of the respondents included in this study is 50.84% male and 49.6% female. In terms of age demographics, 11.33% of respondents were between the ages of 18 to 29, 34.93% were 30 to 44, 30.71% were 40 to 60, and 23.035% were over 60 years old. Lastly, the study ensured regional diversity across the U.S. with 6.13% from the New England area, 14.53% Middle-Atlantic, 15.57% East North Central, 7.08% West North Central, 16.79% South Atlantic, 3.58% East South Central, 9.53% West South Central, 7.64% Mountain, and 19.15% being Pacific. Consumers ages 30 to 44 reported gift-like packaging makes a brand seem more upscale, and 30% of sports goods consumers reported that gift-like packaging encourages repeat purchases. These marketplace signals and consumer reports suggest marketers can leverage branded packaging to target specific consumer segments to increase brand loyalty and purchase behavior.

This attraction to sustainably marketed products is evident. According to the 2020 Sustainable Market Share Index, sustainability-marketed products are responsible for more than half of the growth in consumer-packaged-goods (CPGs) from 2015 to 2019, and this growth continues despite the COVID-19 pandemic (Kronthal-Sacco & Whelan, 2020). Also, according to a survey performed by Accenture (2019), more than half of consumers would pay more for sustainable products designed to be reused or recycled (Accenture, 2019). The survey was conducted among 6,000 consumers ages 18 to 70, in 11 countries: the U.S., Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Mexico, the United Kingdom, China, India, Indonesia, and Japan. This is further

reinforced by a corporate social responsibility study performed by Cone Communications in 2017, which found that respondents have a more positive image (92% vs. 85% in 1993), are more likely to trust (87% vs. 66% in 1998), and are more loyal (88% vs. 90% in 2013) to companies that support social and environmental issues (Cone Communications, 2017).

### **Emerging Packaging Practices from Legacy Marketing**

Secondary packaging and shipping packaging evolved from an enduring marketing practice, primary packaging, which is a legacy form of branding that began as an effort to distinguish products from competitors on the shelf (Keller, 2008; Klimchuk & Krasovec, 2013). Primary packaging, by definition, is the container that holds the product itself (Ampuero & Vila, 2006). A historical example of primary packaging is the iconic Coca-Cola contour bottle that emerged in the 1920s, allowing Coke to differentiate itself visually from other soft-drink brands (Coca-Cola, 2021). This marketing strategy is still prevalent today which is enhanced by modern technology, such as Curology's airless pump delivery bottles that create a vacuum seal to help products last longer (Curology, 2021).

Secondary packaging is the packaging that protects, but also identifies, the product (Ampuero & Vila, 2006). A recent trend within secondary packaging is utilizing reusable items that the customer can repurpose; this is prominently featured in the beauty industry's delivery CPGs with one example being Benefit Cosmetics tins or boxes for their larger holiday collections (PurePrintGroup, 2021). There are numerous other cases to illuminate this marketing phenomenon, two of which are provided in the current analysis for future researchers to substantiate branded packaging as an emerging marketing phenomenon. Both cases offer pathways to measure the effects on consumer brand loyalty.

Shipping packaging, as an established marketing concept, is also referred to in the literature as "tertiary packaging," which is used to distribute, unify, and protect the product when it is shipped through the commercial chain (Ampuero & Vila, 2006). HelloFresh is a meal-kit delivery service that has excelled in branding its shipping packaging, which also aims to reduce its carbon footprint (and increase the brand's marketability) by encouraging its consumers to recycle the packaging (HelloFresh, 2021). From a branding perspective, packaging functions as a brand enhancer and identifier to attract consumers' attention on the store shelves and fulfills the function of brand positioning, competitive advantage, and customer values alignment (Grundey, 2010). These marketing deliverables are increasingly relevant in a hyper-connected digital age coupled with the "COVID-19 era" when brand loyalty is at an all-time low (Morris, 2020). Thus, branded packaging could be a critical asset to develop the highly coveted commodity of brand loyalty. As such, the current analysis explores branded packaging as a mechanism to test and measure brand loyalty outcomes.

### Marketplace Contexts for Secondary Packaging & Shipping/Tertiary Packaging

"Packaging" includes the activities of designing and producing the container for a product. The container is called the package which may include up to three layers of material referred to as (a) primary, (b) secondary, and (c) distribution (shipping) (Kotler, 2002). The secondary material is more specifically defined as the packaging which is thrown away when the product is just to be used (e.g. cardboard box containing a toothpaste tube) (Grundey, 2010). Grundey (2010) explains that increased competition made packaging an important marketing tool. As a result, secondary packaging became important by helping to promote the product more

than the primary package alone. In addition to promoting the product, structural packaging innovations can create a point of difference that permits a higher margin (Keller, 2008).

An example of the drastic impact secondary packaging could have on brand loyalty is the following experiment conducted by a series of professors from Clemson University. In the 2017 study, the professors utilized a consumer experience laboratory designed to create a realistic shopping environment; whereby, they utilized eye-tracking glasses to measure participants' reactions to both unbranded and branded stimuli. The results indicate the branded secondary packaging (the reusable shells) significantly impacted the shoppers' attention patterns. Most importantly, both the fixation count and fixation duration increased for the branded product.

When diving deeper into the data, it can be found that the product in the branded reusable shells received 54% more fixations and was viewed 46% of the time. The increased attention on the branded shells indicates retailers can implement eye-catching graphics to their reusable secondary packaging in an attempt to increase sales and increase marketing return on investment (MROI) on reusables. The results provided herein substantiate that on-message secondary packaging with visually appealing in-brand graphics can be an effective strategy for building the brand's consumer perception (Hurley et al., 2017).

As internet users spend more time on Instagram than many other sites or apps, while simultaneously the prevalence of secondary packaging imagery on Instagram continues to grow, secondary packaging is emerging as a viable opportunity for marketers (Ilich & Hardey, 2020; Sheldon & Bryant, 2016). Therefore, consumer exposure to packaging is not restricted to the point of purchase and moments of consumption because brand packages can often play a starring role in advertising (Keller, 2008).

The current analysis acknowledges the literature's occasional reference to shipping packaging as tertiary packaging. Traditionally, tertiary packaging was designed to get the total package system and contained product through the supply chain with minimal damage. The extent that it fulfills that role today varies widely. For long-distance journeys overseas, or through long road or rail journeys, that fundamental role has not shifted. However, modern modes of transport including containerization and air suspension on lorries have greatly reduced those stresses (Emblem, 2012).

Shipping packaging also has multiple other purposes outside of assisting in transportation ease. Marketers have found ways to mark shipping packages that have made it easier to organize the growing amounts of products transported. The reason being is, marketers found that more often people choose a product by the attractiveness and comfort of the package rather than the product's features. As such, packages are used to perform sales tasks like attracting attention, describing the product, and selling it (Grundey, 2010). This finding that shipping packaging has moved beyond the purpose of protecting the product during distribution is also reported in the popular press, which argues that the shipping experience should include: (1) keeping the product safe; (2) staying within budget while being creative; and (3) creating the "wow" experience that tells the story of your brand (Hughes, 2021).

A recent case study example is the brand Flamingo, a women's shaving brand that has taken its shipping packaging beyond a vehicle for transportation. For instance, every surface of their shipping box has its logo printed on it, including the tape used to close the box. With the exception of one side being used to remind their consumers to "Please recycle this box," reinforcing within their consumers that their brand supports sustainability efforts. Upon opening the box, a subtle lavender hue is printed on the inside of the box, as well as the company logo

and website. There is an equally encouraging, yet also snarky, quote that reads "Women are strong, smart, beautiful, funny, and hairy," reinforcing their brand identity that Flamingo supports strong women and their product is designed to directly meet women's needs. This case study is an example of how a brand can take its shipping packaging and use it as a vehicle to reinforce its brand personality to its consumer (Flamingo, 2022).

In contrast, according to Moreau, brands who spend considerable resources to optimize the consumer's path to purchase, only to have their products arrive unceremoniously on the consumer's doorstep a few days later in a battered cardboard box, damage their brand reputation. This oversight can be particularly detrimental to brand equity because the time between the purchase of a product and its arrival allows a consumers' anticipation and expectations to build. If the delivery packaging fails to meet the brand's promise [e.g., by arriving in a cheap, plain box with unattractive (or no) cushioning], the consumer's impression of the brand is likely to suffer (Moreau, 2020). Moreau also lists a series of different ways companies can enhance their shipping packaging through branding: (1) exterior shipping packaging; (2) packaging tape; (3) cushioning material; (4) tissue paper; (5) cardstock instructions, receipts, and notes, as well as primary and secondary packaging elements (Moreau, 2020).

### **Proposed Study Design with Hypotheses and Research Questions**

Despite the amount of attention, the phenomenon of branded packaging is gaining in the popular press, there are gaps in the literature, particularly within the U.S. covering this topic. As such, through the research gathered in the current analysis, this paper offers recommendations and tools for future scholars to operationalize the findings synthesized in this paper. An example of this would be to conduct a convenience sample of women, specifically those who engage in

online beauty purchases. This study would show the respondents both branded and unbranded packaging stimuli of beauty products and then ask them a series of questions regarding what their opinion of the brand would be if they received the packaging shown as adapted from previous analyses (Berden, 2020; Grundey, 2010; Dhurup, Mafini, & Dumasi, 2014).

The beauty industry offers an observable marketplace with women as a prominent demographic, because 80 to 90% of the \$500 billion market for beauty products are purchased by women (Elsesser, 2019). Within the proposed study, researchers could show respondents branded versus unbranded packaging stimuli and directly ask consumers about their willingness to share a brand (online or word-of-mouth). The stimuli and survey can also gauge the affect of the stimuli (positive, neutral, or negative) regarding the brand as a whole and whether or not there is a shift after viewing branding, or lack thereof, on the shipping and secondary packaging.

The following hypotheses are precedented by Berden and other scholars, which could offer future scholars a pathway for further analysis by leveraging the literature review offered in the current analysis's conceptual framework (Banerjee, 2013; Berden, 2020; Bellomo & Pleyers, 2021). These previously postulated hypotheses do not specify between the different levels of packaging being primary, secondary, and shipping but rather treat packaging as a whole.

H1: "Secondary packaging" of beauty products has a significant increase in positive affect among female college consumers.

H1a: "Secondary packaging" of beauty products has a significant increase in willingness to share among female college consumers.

This first set of hypotheses offers foundational approaches to observing the branded packaging phenomenon. First, secondary packaging is proposed because it is becoming an increasingly important component of consumers' first impressions of a brand, especially in regard to Ecommerce. The Ecommerce space has experienced year-over-year growth, which was only heightened by the COVID-19 pandemic (Young, 2022a). Compared with 2019, online sales increased 50.5%. Within the Ecommerce space, delivery is now more critical as it is the crucial moment when an online shopper first makes physical contact with the product they have purchased (Moreau, 2020). Therefore, secondary packaging can be increasingly prominent in the delivery experience and the judgment of the brand.

Another foundational consideration is "positive affect" (PA), which reflects the extent to which a person feels enthusiastic, active, and alert. High PA is a state of high energy, full concentration, and pleasurable engagement; whereas, low PA is characterized by sadness and lethargy (Tellegen, 1988). PA is measured through the PANAS scale pioneered by Tellegen (1988). PA has since been operationalized across a variety of brand studies and has shown to enhance the propensity of customers to be brand loyal (Pulligadda, Kardes, & Cronley, 2016). As such, it is a logical step in the literature to apply PA to a brand loyalty study regarding the brand effects of both secondary and shipping packaging design.

Willingness to share (WTS) is a term in the literature that has been adapted to include both online and offline word of mouth (WOM) (Graham, & Wilder, 2020; Nørskov, Antorini, & Jensen, 2016). There has also been evidence that brand community members' WTS ideas are positively related to brand loyalty (Nørskov, Antorini, & Jensen, 2016). As a result, to reflect both the online and physical nature of the branding environment, WTS is a primary brand effect

measurement. Future scholars may leverage this concept's relevance to branded packaging with the following hypotheses:

H2: "Shipping packaging" of beauty products has a significant increase in positive affect among female college consumers.

H2a: "Shipping packaging" of beauty products has a significant increase in willingness to share among female college consumers.

The second set of hypotheses held all selections constant from the first with the exception of highlighting shipping instead of secondary packaging. Shipping packaging like secondary packaging was also selected due to the increasing shift from brick and mortar to online retail.

The rise in relevance of secondary packaging as it relates to Ecommerce is evidenced by the U.S. Ecommerce space growing 14.2% in 2021 (Young, 2022b). Shipping packaging is also relevant based on the growing Ecommerce space because it is the first physical impression the consumer makes with the company (Moreau, 2020). The following research questions represent examples that could be offered in a future study to add context to the hypotheses above and the conceptual framework offered by the current analysis:

RQ1: Do subscribers of beauty products have a greater positive affect for "secondary packaging" than "shipping packaging?"

RQ2: Are subscribers of beauty products more willing to share about a brand after being introduced to branded "secondary packaging?"

RQ2: Are subscribers of beauty products more willing to share about a brand after being introduced to branded "shipping packaging" stimuli?

These research questions aim to bolster a future study to allow for subsequent studies that are more nuanced and exploratory regarding the branding effects of packaging design. Such studies could address changes in the packaging environment as they arise while offering retrospective analyses as well as better predictive assessments.

# **Discussion & Implications**

# **Theoretical Implications**

The conceptual framework of the current analysis and the proposed study design aims to advance BLT by illuminating how consumers' perception of a brand is potentially affected by the delivery stage of an online purchase. Within the delivery stage, the packaging is an increasingly important criterion for brand decision-making due to it being the last point of contact (Moreau, 2020). This logical deduction that the brand is impacted by the packaging design specifically within this delivery stage is also critical as it shows that packaging is a factor in building (1) a brand's image and (2) brand loyalty (Jacoby et al., 1978; Kotler, 2002). Packaging design is directly correlated with consumers' perceptions of quality, which is strongly related to purchasing behavior and brand loyalty (Jacoby & Kyner, 1973). Therefore, this research allows

for BLT to be operationalizable for future study designs regarding packaging and other evolutions of brands' images as technology continues to develop.

It is a logical extension of the literature to expand BLT to encompass studies regarding packaging design because the online nature of purchasing has now split the purchase decision process into two unique stages: the order stage, and the delivery or keep/return stage (Wood, 2001). In other words, first, the consumer decides what and how much to purchase in a virtual space; and second, once the products are physically delivered to their home, decides whether or not to keep them (Moreau, 2020). In the second stage, packaging may serve a critical role as it is the first thing the consumer sees; thereby, the branded packaging could affect the consumers' opinion of the brand.

# **Practical Implications**

Packaging has proven its ability to affirm, change, and improve consumer perception of a brand's quality which is critical for companies to understand when allocating marketing budgets moving forward, especially as the visibility of packaging is becoming more accessible through unboxing videos (Google 2018; Rigaux-Bricmont, 1982). The unboxing phenomenon continues to rise with the steady use of YouTube as well as the recent rise of the video social media platform, TikTok, whose user base reached 1.5 billion in March of 2022 (Hughes, 2021; McLachlan, 2022). The ability for this change in perception of quality to then affect brand loyalty, and by proxy increase, customer lifetime value (as well as profits), offers business opportunities for firms and agencies. Thus, companies can take action to create a distinguishable brand and reinforce their quality as well as brands' values.

Companies who take note of this packaging phenomenon and recognize consumers' increased standards for Ecommerce experiences (which include curated packaging design), will be able to capitalize on opportunities to build brand loyalty (Feber et al., 2020). Companies that implement marketing efforts to present their brand consistently across all platforms including packaging design, social media, website, and promotional materials can increase revenue by up to 23% (Shaoolian, 2018).

In the literature, there is statistical evidence that branded packaging received 54% more fixations and is viewed 46% of the time, as opposed to non-branded packaging based on eye movement tracking software (Hurley et al., 2017). Eye movement tracking has been used to analyze in-store branding and its powerful effects on attention and how that translates to small but reliable effects on brand evaluation (Chandon, Hutchinson, Bradlow, & Young, 2008). It is clear from the literature and popular press that there is a relationship between branded packaging and BLT.

The current analysis aims to operationalize future studies to extend the literature and examine the relationship BLT has with both "secondary packaging" and "shipping packaging," while also enabling future scholars to identify corresponding branding effects and financial impacts including revenue, customer lifetime value (CLTV), and the number of customers impacted in any particular community or statistical universe population. With BLT as a foundational theory from which future scholars may operationalize packaging design studies, explorations of their effects on consumer behavior offer many pathways forward for observation, analysis, and research development.

### Conclusion

"Secondary packaging" and "shipping packaging" are increasingly relevant components to a company's market mix, as the burgeoning online marketplace continues to expand. Within Ecommerce, both "secondary packaging" and "shipping packaging" may impact how consumers form their opinion of a brand's quality, personality, and other attributes (Aaker & Joachimsthaler, 2009; Kotler, 2002). In a marketplace with a myriad of choices, loyalty is a coveted commodity (Stagnaro, 2019). The current analysis aims to help future scholars operationalize studies to decode how such consumer choices are impacted. By advancing BLT literature, brand managers may better identify and define brand affects and "willingness to share" (WTS) related to branded packaging, all of which could be leveraged to further inspire loyalty among consumers (or loyalty-prone consumers).

The current analysis's synthesis of past research demonstrates that consumers high in both PA and WTS are more likely to be loyal to their brands (Pulligadda, Kardes, & Cronley, 2016). The conceptual framework proposed herein also explains the BLT relationship with "secondary packaging" and "shipping packaging." Further studies that analyze the branding effects of both PA and WTS as a result of branded packaging could test brand effects and brand loyalty. However, there are potential limitations to this future research.

The proposed study design offers a narrow focus on the beauty industry, which will not have generalizable results for a variety of different industries whose audiences and consumers are not primarily female. With the beauty industry, "women," as a demographic, may also be too broad. As with any large demographic, there are segments within that may offer highly valuable returns with strategic branding. However, in addition to limitations, there are also possibilities to expand the research further beyond PA and WTS into other brand sentiment indicators. Such

specific segmentation and branding effects are beyond the scope of this research. To begin this pursuit, the analysis offered herein may provide future scholars with the theoretical and conceptual tools to extend the BLT literature to better define branded packaging and its associated brand effects.

### References

- Aaker, D. A. (1991), Managing Brand Equity: Capitalizing on the Value of a Brand Name, Free Press, New York, NY
- Aaker, D. A. (2012). Building strong brands. Simon and Schuster.
- Abhishek, V., Jerath, K., & Zhang, Z. J. (2016). Agency selling or reselling? Channel structures in electronic retailing. Management Science, 62(8), 2259-2280.
- Accenture. (2019, June 4). More than half of consumers would pay more for sustainable products designed to be reused or recycled. Accenture Newsroom. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://newsroom.accenture.com/news/more-than-half-of-consumers-would-pay-more-for-sustainable-products-designed-to-be-reused-or-recycled-accenture-survey-finds.htm
- AMA. (2021). *Branding*. American Marketing Association. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.ama.org/topics/branding/
- Amazon. (2020). *Amazon Streaming TV & Online Video Ads*. Amazon. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://advertising.amazon.com/solutions/products/video-ads?ref\_=a20m\_us\_fnav\_p\_va
- Ambrose, G., & Harris, P. (2017). Packaging the brand: the relationship between packaging design and brand identity. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Ampuero, O., & Vila, N. (2006). Consumer perceptions of product packaging. Journal of consumer marketing.

- Arnold, D. (1992), The Handbook of Brand Management, Century Business: The Economist Books
- Bajaj, A., & Bond, S. D. (2018). Beyond beauty: Design symmetry and brand personality. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 28(1), 77-98.
- Banerjee, S. (2013). An Empirical Analysis on Attitude of Indian Consumers towards Packaging & Labelling across Different Product Categories. Journal of Marketing & Communication, 8(4).
- Batra, R., Lehmann, D. R., & Singh, D. (1993). The brand personality component of brand goodwill: Some antecedents and consequences. In D. A. Aaker & A. Biel (Eds.), Brand equity and advertising (pp. 83–96).
- Bellomo, M., & Pleyers, G. (2021). Sustainable cosmetics: the impact of packaging materials, environmental concern and subjective norm on green consumer behavior.
- Berden, C. (2020). Thinking inside the box: the effect of the unboxing experience on positive affect and willingness to share (Master's thesis, University of Twente).
- Boudet, J., Huang, J., & Difloe, R. von. (2020, November 6). Coping with the big switch: How paid loyalty programs can help bring consumers back to your brand. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/marketing-and-sales/our-insights/coping-with-the-big-switch-how-paid-loyalty-programs-can-help-bring-consumers-back-to-your-brand

- Bromage, Neil (2001), "Keep the Customer Satisfied," Supply Management, Vol. 6, No. 10, pp. 34-36.
- Buffalo Market. (2022). *How CPGs leverage delivery apps*. Buffalo Market. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.buffalomarket.com/blogs/food-distributor-cpg/how-cpgs-leverage-delivery-apps
- Catalina. (2015, June 30). A Tough Road to Growth, The 2015 Mid-Year Review: How the Top

  100 CPG Brands Performed. Catalina, Personalized Digital Media. Retrieved October

  2021, from

  https://assets.ctfassets.net/oyvkhyupj815/2ZYjJLIB2gsMyaOgmQC2WW/8ece3950dea3f2

  0122cf71ea80229c1a/2015-Mid-Year-Review.pdf
- Chandon, P., Hutchinson, J. W., Bradlow, E. T., & Young, S. H. (2008). Does in-store marketing work? Effects of the number and position of shelf facings on attention and evaluation at the point of purchase. Unpublished working paper, Center for Global Research and Education, Wharton School Alliance, Fontainebleau.
- Charm, T., Coggins, B., Robinson, K., & Wilkie, J. (2020, August 4). *The great consumer shift: Ten charts that show how U.S. shopping behavior is changing.* McKinsey & Company.

  Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/marketing-and-sales/our-insights/the-great-consumer-shift-ten-charts-that-show-how-us-shopping-behavior-is-changing
- Chen, T., Fenyo, K., Yang, S., & Zhang, J. (2018, February 9). *Thinking inside the subscription* box: New research on e-commerce consumers. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved April 21,

- 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/technology-media-and-telecommunications/our-insights/thinking-inside-the-subscription-box-new-research-on-ecommerce-consumers
- Clarus Commerce. (2020). The Definitive Guide to Premium Loyalty. Clarus Commerce. Retrieved April 24, 2022, from http://www.claruscommerce.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/the-definitive-guide-to-premium-loyalty-ebook-clarus-commerce.pdf
- Clarus Commerce. (2021a). Loyalty Industry 2021 Data Study, Insights, Challenges & Samp;

  Plans from Today's Retailers. Clarus Commerce. Retrieved April 22, 2022, from http://www.claruscommerce.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/2021-loyalty-industry-data-study-clarus-commerce.pdf
- Clarus Commerce. (2021b, March). Premium Loyalty 2021 Data Study, Meeting Rising

  Consumer Loyalty Expectations Post-Pandemic. Clarus Commerce. Retrieved April 22,

  2022, from http://www.claruscommerce.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/clarus
  commerce-2021-premium-loyalty-data-study.pdf
- Coca-Cola. (2021). The history of the Coca-Cola Contour Bottle News & Articles. The Coca-Cola Company. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://www.coca-colacompany.com/company/history/the-history-of-the-coca-cola-contour-bottle
- Consumer Brands Association. (2021, August 26). *CPG Economic Pulse: Q2 report 2021*.

  Consumer Brands Association. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

- https://consumerbrandsassociation.org/industry-impact/cpg-economic-pulse-q2-report-2021/
- Craig, D., & Cunningham, S. (2017). Toy unboxing: Living in a (n unregulated) material world.

  Media International Australia, 163(1), 77-86.
- Crainer, S (1995), The Real Power of Brands: Making Brands Work for Competitive Advantage,
  Pitman Publishing, London
- Criteo. (2019, July 8). Why we buy survey: What 1,000+ consumers have to say about loyalty.

  Criteo. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.criteo.com/blog/customer-loyalty-research/
- Curology. (2021). Curology bottles. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://support.curology.com/curology-bottles-BkNPX2dhu
- Cone Communications. (2017). Cone Communications CSR Study. Cone Communications.

  Retrieved April 24, 2022, from https://www.cbd.int/doc/case-studies/inc/cs-inc-cone-communications-en.pdf
- Davis, P. (2021, August 16). *Council post: Brand loyalty in an age of uncertainty*. Forbes.

  Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

  https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesagencycouncil/2021/08/16/brand-loyalty-in-an-age-of-uncertainty/?sh=33e5e1e45028

- DeWitt, T., Nguyen, D. T., & Marshall, R. (2008). Exploring customer loyalty following service recovery: The mediating effects of trust and emotions. Journal of service research, 10(3), 269-281.
- Dhurup, M., Mafini, C., & Dumasi, T. (2014). The impact of packaging, price and brand awareness on brand loyalty: Evidence from the paint retailing industry. Acta Commercii, 14(1), 1-9.
- Dick, A. S., & Basu, K. (1994). Customer loyalty: toward an integrated conceptual framework.

  Journal of the academy of marketing science, 22(2), 99-113.
- Diorio, S. (2016, June 8). *How leading brands are winning the 'direct-to-customer' conversation*.

  Forbes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

  https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesinsights/2016/06/07/how-leading-brands-are-winning-the-direct-to-customer-conversation/?sh=2f0a21b64fbd
- Dotcom Distribution. (2022, January 27). 2021 Dotcom Distribution Ecommerce Consumer

  Study. Dotcom Distribution. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://dotcomdist.com/2021-dotcom-distribution-ecommerce-consumer-study/
- Elsesser, K. (2019, October 28). *The link between beauty and the gender gap*. Forbes. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/kimelsesser/2019/10/28/the-link-between-beauty-and-the-gender-gap/?sh=fb6dbea55454
- Emblem, A. (Ed.). (2012). Packaging technology: Fundamentals, materials and processes. Elsevier.

- Esper, T. L., Jensen, T. D., Turnipseed, F. L., & Burton, S. (2003). The last mile: an examination of effects of online retail delivery strategies on consumers. Journal of Business logistics, 24(2), 177-203.
- Feber, D., Kobeli, L., Lingqvist, O., & Nordigården, D. (2020, July 15). *Beyond covid-19: The next normal for packaging design*. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/paper-forest-products-and-packaging/our-insights/beyond-covid-19-the-next-normal-for-packaging-design
- Flamingo. (2022). Flamingo. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.shopflamingo.com/en/us/
- Gibbons, S. (2018, June 19). You and your business have 7 Seconds to make a first impression:

  Here's how to succeed. Forbes. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from

  https://www.forbes.com/sites/serenitygibbons/2018/06/19/you-have-7-seconds-to-make-a-first-impression-heres-how-to-succeed/?sh=43acfda856c2
- Gielens, K., & Steenkamp, J. B. E. (2019). Branding in the era of digital (dis) intermediation. International Journal of Research in Marketing, 36(3), 367-384.
- Glossier. (2020, August 31). *One year with less packaging*. Glossier. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.glossier.com/blog/less-packaging
- Google/Ipsos, Global (U.S., CA, BR, U.K., DE, FR, JP, IN, KR, AU). (2018, July). How People Shop with YouTube Study, 18–64-year-olds who go online at least monthly and have purchased something in the last year. n=24,017.

- Graham, K. W., & Wilder, K. M. (2020). Consumer-brand identity and online advertising message elaboration: effect on attitudes, purchase intent and willingness to share. Journal of Research in Interactive Marketing.
- Grundey, D. (2010). Functionality of Product Packaging: Surveying Consumers' Attitude

  Towards Selected Cosmetic Brands. Economics & Sociology, 3(1), 87.
- Halim, P., Swasto, B., Hamid, D., & Firdaus, M. R. (2014). The influence of product quality, brand image, and quality of service to customer trust and implication on customer loyalty (survey on customer brand sharp electronics product at the South Kalimantan Province). European Journal of Business and Management, 6(29), 159-166.
- Heisler, Y. (2012, January 24). *Inside Apple's Secret Packaging Room*. Network World.

  Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.networkworld.com/article/2221536/inside-apple-s-secret-packaging-room.html
- HelloFresh. (2022). *Recycling your hellofresh box*. HelloFresh. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://www.hellofresh.com/about/sustainability/packaging
- Hoch, Stephen J. and Young-Won Ha (1986), "Consumer Learning: Advertising and the Ambiguity of Product Experience," Journal of Consumer Research, 13 (September), 221–33.
- Hu, M., Kingombe, T. K., & Kogan, A. (2021, November 8). *How CPG companies can conquer the e-commerce supply chain*. BCG Global. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

- https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/ecommerce-supply-chain-strategy-for-cpg-companies
- Hughes, B. (2021, January 8). *Turn your shipping box into a competitive advantage*. Forbes.

  Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/theyec/2021/01/11/turn-your-shipping-box-into-a-competitive-advantage/?sh=380e15b018be
- Hurley, R. A., Rice, J. C., Koefelda, J., Congdon, R., & Ouzts, A. (2017). The Role of Secondary Packaging on Brand Awareness: Analysis of 2 L Carbonated Soft Drinks in Reusable Shells Using Eye Tracking Technology. Packag. Technol. Sci, 30, 711-722.
- Hyken, S. (2018, July 15). *Customer experience is the new brand*. Forbes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/shephyken/2018/07/15/customer-experience-is-the-new-brand/?sh=5b02a1317f52
- Ilicha, K. L., & Hardeyb, M. (2018). 'It's all about the packaging': Investigation of the motivations, intentions and marketing implications of sharing photographs of secondary packaging on Instagram. 23(1), 8-9.
- Jacoby, J., Chestnut, R. W., & Fisher, W. A. (1978). A behavioral process approach to information acquisition in nondurable purchasing. Journal of marketing research, 15(4), 532-544.
- Jacoby, J., & Kyner, D. B. (1973). Brand loyalty vs. repeat purchasing behavior. Journal of Marketing research, 10(1), 1-9.

- Joachimsthaler, E., & Aaker, D. A. (2009). Brand Leadership: Building Assets In an Information Economy. Simon and Schuster.'
- Jones, T. O., & Sasser, W. E. (1995). Why satisfied customers defect. Harvard business review, 73(6), 88.
- Kalampokis, E., Karamanou, A., Tambouris, E., & Tarabanis, K. (2016). Applying Brand Equity Theory to Understand Consumer Opinion in Social Media. Journal of Universal Computer Science, 22(5), 709-734.
- Kang, J., Alejandro, T. B., & Groza, M. D. (2015). Customer–company identification and the effectiveness of loyalty programs. Journal of Business Research, 68, 464-471.
- Keller, K. L. (1993). Conceptualizing, measuring, and managing customer-based brand equity.

  Journal of marketing, 57(1), 1-22.
- Keller, K.L. (2008). Strategic brand management. Building, measuring and managing brand equity (3rd ed.). New Jersey: Pearson.
- Kim, C., Self, J. A., & Bae, J. (2018). Exploring the first momentary unboxing experience with aesthetic interaction. The Design Journal, 21(3), 417-438.
- Kim, W. G., Lee, C., & Hiemstra, S. J. (2004). Effects of an online virtual community on customer loyalty and travel product purchases. Tourism management, 25(3), 343-355.
- Klimchuk, M. R., & Krasovec, S. A. (2013). Packaging design: Successful product branding from concept to shelf. John Wiley & Sons.

- Kopka, U., & Little, E. (2020, August). What got us here won't get us there: A new model for the consumer goods industry. Mckinsey & Company. Retrieved April 22, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/industries/retail/our%20insights/how%20co vid%2019%20is%20changing%20consumer%20behavior%20now%20and%20forever/how-covid-19-is-changing-consumer-behaviornow-and-forever.pdf?initialSessionID=144-9450876-2512367&ld=SDUSSOADirect&ldStackingCodes=SDUSSOADirect
- Kotler, P. (2002). Marketing Management. Millennium Edition. New York, Prentice-Hall, Inc. 195.
- Kronthal-Sacco, R., Van Holt, T., Atz, U., & Whelan, T. (2020). Sustainable Purchasing Patterns and Consumer Responsiveness to Sustainability Marketing Messages. Journal of Sustainability Research, 2(2).
- Laberge, J. (2019, June 11). Why every e-commerce business should have a shipping strategy.

  Forbes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

  https://www.forbes.com/sites/forbesagencycouncil/2019/06/11/why-every-e-commerce-business-should-have-a-shipping-strategy/?sh=ccad11b6c62c
- Lee, J. L., James, J. D., & Kim, Y. K. (2014). A reconceptualization of brand image.

  International Journal of Business Administration, 5(4), 1.
- Mahfouz, A. Y. (2004). Interactive experiential ecommerce: an experimental study. In Proceedings of the 7 th Annual Conference of the Southern Association for Information Systems, http://sais.aisnet.org/2004/.% 5CMahfouz.pdf (pp. 291-295).

- Manning, L. (2021, April 27). Consumer demand for sustainable packaging holds despite pandemic. Food Dive. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://www.fooddive.com/news/consumer-demand-for-sustainable-packaging-holds-despite-pandemic/599013/
- Mckinsey & Company. (2021, July 29). *Brand loyalty is on the wane*. McKinsey & Company. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/coronavirus-leading-through-the-crisis/charting-the-path-to-the-next-normal/brand-loyalty-is-on-the-wane
- McLachlan, S. (2022, February 14). *Social Media Marketing & Management Dashboard*.

  HootSuite Strategy. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://blog.hootsuite.com/youtube-stats-marketers/
- Moreau, C. P. (2020). Brand building on the doorstep: The importance of the first (physical) impression. Journal of Retailing, 96(1), 155-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretai.2019.12.003
- Morris, C. (2020, October 21). *Brand loyalty is changing due to the pandemic*. Fortune.

  Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://fortune.com/2020/10/21/brand-loyalty-retail-trends-covid/
- Nørskov, S., Antorini, Y. M., & Jensen, M. B. (2016). Innovative brand community members and their willingness to share ideas with companies. International Journal of Innovation Management, 20(06), 1650046.

- Oatly. (2019). *Oatly Sustainability Report 2019, Packaging*. Oatly . Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://sustainability.oatly.com/packaging/
- Oliver, R. L. (1999). Whence consumer loyalty? Journal of marketing, 63(4\_suppl1), 33-44.
- Oracle. (2021). What is customer loyalty. Oracle. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.oracle.com/cx/marketing/customer-loyalty/what-is-customer-loyalty/
- Phillips, B. J., McQuarrie, E. F., & Griffin, W. G. (2014). How Visual Brand Identity Shapes Consumer Response. Psychology and Marketing, 31(3), 225-236.
- Pitney Bowes. (2020). *Pitney Bowes Parcel Shipping index*. Pitney Bowes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.pitneybowes.com/us/shipping-index.html#
- Pulligadda, S., Kardes, F. R., & Cronley, M. L. (2016). Positive affectivity as a predictor of consumers' propensity to be brand loyal. Journal of Brand Management, 23(2), 216-228.
- PurePrintGroup. (2021, January 20). *Benefit cosmetics*. Pureprint. Retrieved April 18, 2022, from https://www.pureprint.com/portfolio/benefit-cosmetics/
- Ramkumar, B. and Hongjoo Woo, H. J. Modeling Consumers' Intention to Use Fashion and Beauty Subscription-Based Online Services (Sos). Fashion and Textiles 5(1) 2018, pp. 22.
- Rigaux-Bricmont, B. (1982). Influences of brand name and packaging on perceived quality.

  ACR North American Advances.
- Shaoolian, G. (2018, August 10). 10 marketing, Web Design & Branding Statistics to help you prioritize business growth initiatives. Forbes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

- https://www.forbes.com/sites/gabrielshaoolian/2018/08/10/10-marketing-web-design-branding-statistics-to-help-you-prioritize-business-growth-initiatives/?sh=3fbf544cd708
- Sheldon, P., & Bryant, K. (2016). Instagram: Motives for its use and relationship to narcissism and contextual age. Computers in human Behavior, 58, 89-97.
- Sheth, J. N., & Park, C. W. (1974). A theory of multidimensional brand loyalty/151. Faculty working papers; no. 151.
- Spurgeon, E., & Linda, N. S. (2019, December). An exploratory study of consumer satisfaction and purchase behaviors for fashion subscription-based online services (SOS). In International Textile and Apparel Association Annual Conference Proceedings (Vol. 76, No. 1). Iowa State University Digital Press.
- Stagnaro, L. (2019, January 1). *The cost of convenience: Declining brand loyalty*. American Marketing Association. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.ama.org/marketing-news/the-cost-of-convenience-declining-brand-loyalty/
- Sunder, S., Kumar, V., & Zhao, Y. (2016). Measuring the lifetime value of a customer in the consumer-packaged-goods industry. Journal of Marketing Research, 53(6), 901-921.
- Talbot, P. (2020, February 23). *Is customer loyalty dead?* Forbes. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/paultalbot/2020/02/23/is-customer-loyalty-dead/?sh=34ffac195fba

- Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect: The PANAS Scales. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 54(6), 1063-1070.
- Turban, E., Outland, J., King, D., Lee, J. K., Liang, T. P., & Turban, D. C. (2018). Electronic commerce 2018: a managerial and social networks perspective (p. 253). Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- UrbanStems. (2022). *UrbanStems About Us*. UrbanStems. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://urbanstems.com/about
- Ward, E., Yang, S., Romaniuk, J., & Beal, V. (2020). Building a unique brand identity:

  Measuring the relative ownership potential of brand identity element types. Journal of
  Brand Management, 27(4), 393-407.
- Wood, Stacy L. (2000). Brands and brand equity: definition and management. Management decision.
- Wood, Stacy L. (2001), "Remote Purchase Environments: The Influence of Return Policy Leniency on Two-Stage Decision Processes," Journal of Mar- keting Research, 38 (May), 157–69.
- World Customs Organization. (2018, June). WCO Framework of Standards on Cross-Border Ecommerce. Retrieved April 22, 2022, from http://www.wcoomd.org/-/media/wco/public/global/pdf/topics/facilitation/activities-and-

programmes/ecommerce/wco-framework-of-standards-on-crossborder-ecommerce en.pdf?la=en&la=en

- World Trade Organization. (2018). World Trade Organization. WTO. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from

  https://www.wto.org/english/thewto e/minist e/mc11 e/briefing notes e/bfecom e.htm
- Young, J. (2022a, April 4). A decade in review: Ecommerce sales vs. total retail sales 2012-2021. Digital Commerce 360. Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.digitalcommerce360.com/article/e-commerce-sales-retail-sales-ten-year-review/
- Young, J. (2022b, February 21). *U.S. ecommerce grows 14.2% in 2021*. Digital Commerce 360.

  Retrieved April 21, 2022, from https://www.digitalcommerce360.com/article/us-ecommerce-sales/
- Zuora. (2021, March). The Subscription Economy Index. Subscribed Institute. Retrieved April 23, 2022, from https://www.subscribed.com/subscribed-institute